

Northern California Climate Adaptation Project:

Overview of Climate Trends and Projections

Table of Contents

Introduction	2
Trends and Projections for Climate and Climate-Driven Factors	4
Air Temperature	4
Water Temperature	6
Precipitation	7
Climatic Water Deficit & Soil Moisture	
Snowpack	
Timing of Snowmelt and Runoff	
Streamflow	
Coastal Fog	
Sea Level Rise	19
Trends and Projections for Extreme Events and Natural Disturbance Regimes	21
Heat Waves	21
Extreme Precipitation, Storms, and Flooding	21
Drought	21
Wildfire	22
Literature Cited	24



Photo by Bob Wick/BLM (CC BY 2.0)



Photo by Redwood National & State Forests via Flickr (Public Domain)

Photo by USFWS via Flickr (CC BY 2.0)

Recommended Citation

Hilberg LE, Kershner JM. 2021. Overview of Climate Trends and Projections for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project. Version 1.0. EcoAdapt, Bainbridge Island, WA.

Further information on the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project is available on the project website (<u>https://tinyurl.com/NorCalAdaptation</u>).

Introduction

This document provides an overview of historical climate trends and future projections for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area. These trends and projections provided the foundation for ranking the climate exposure component of the vulnerability assessment, together with additional literature that provided habitat- and species-specific information related to exposure.

Most climate projections for this project are based on data from the Basin Characterization Model (BCM), which simulates projected changes in hydrologic conditions by using input precipitation and temperature data to model factors that impact landscapescale water balance, including snowpack, climatic water deficit, groundwater recharge, and surface runoff (Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014). We used the BCM to examine changes in precipitation, temperature, climatic water deficit (CWD), and snowpack for each Jepson ecoregion overlapping a portion of the study area (see Figure 1), comparing historical (1951–1980) to late-century (2070–2099) time periods under six different global climate models and three emissions scenarios that span a range of temperature and precipitation possibilities (GFDL-B1, PCM-A2, CCSM4-RCP8.5, GFDL-A2, CNRM-RCP8.5, MIROC-RCP8.5). Projections for other factors within this overview (e.g., water temperature, drought, wildfire) are based on a review of relevant studies in the scientific literature.

Figure 1. Study area geography and overlapping ecoregions for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project.

The following table summarizes the trend direction and projected future changes of important climate and climate-driven factors, which are discussed in greater detail in the remaining sections of this report (Table 1).

Table 1. Summary of trend direction and projected future changes for climate and climate-driven factors, extreme events, and major natural disturbance regimes within the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area.

Variable	Trend	Projected Future Changes		
Climate and climate-driven factors				
Air temperature	1	• 2.2–6.1°C (4.0–11.0°F) increase in annual mean temperature by 2100		
Water temperature	Ť	 0.4–0.8°C (0.8–1.4°F) increase in August stream temperature by the 2080s 		
Precipitation	1 ↓	 -23% to +38% change in mean annual precipitation by 2100 Shorter, wetter winters and longer, drier summers likely, with higher interannual variability 		
CWD		• 4–43% increase in mean annual climatic water deficit (CWD) by 2100		
& Soil moisture	₽	Reduced soil moisture due to enhanced evapotranspiration		
Snowpack	₽	• 61–100% decrease in April 1 snow water equivalent (SWE) by 2100		
& Snowmelt	-	 5–15-day shift towards earlier timing of snowmelt by 2100 		
Streamflow	↑ ↓	 General increase in wet season flows and decrease in dry season flows, with overall increase in flow variability 30–40% decline in the lowest streamflow per decade by 2100 		
Coastal fog	Ļ	Weak decline in the frequency of days with coastal fog and low clouds		
Sea level rise		• High likelihood of 0.03–1.24 m (0.1–4.1 ft) sea level rise by 2100		
Extreme events and natural disturbance regimes				
Heat waves	1	 Significant increase in heat wave frequency and intensity, especially for humid nighttime events and in coastal areas 		
Storms & Flooding	1	 Increased storm intensity and duration, resulting in more frequent/intense extreme precipitation events and flooding 300–400% increase in the frequency of 200-year floods 		
Drought	1	 Drought years twice as likely to occur, with significantly increased risk of prolonged and/or severe drought 		
Wildfire	1	 77% increase in mean annual area burned statewide, and up to 400% increase in montane forested areas of northern California 50% increase in the frequency of extremely large fires (>10k ha) Significant increases in fire severity are likely due to more extreme fire behavior combined with human activity and fuel buildup 		

3

Trends and Projections for Climate and Climate-Driven Factors

Air Temperature

Annual, minimum, and maximum temperatures have increased state-wide over the past century (LaDochy et al. 2007; Cordero et al. 2011; Pierce et al. 2018), with accelerated rates of warming since the 1970s (Cordero et al. 2011). Minimum temperatures (representing nighttime lows) have warmed faster than mean and maximum temperatures in most regions, including northern California (LaDochy et al. 2007; Cordero et al. 2011; Pierce et al. 2018). However, mean annual temperatures have increased less in northern California (+0.6°C [1.0°F]) compared to the state-wide average (+0.8°C [1.5°F]; Grantham 2018; Pierce et al. 2018), and maximum temperatures in the region have exhibited very slight decreases (Rapacciuolo et al. 2014). Within the study area, increases in annual and minimum temperatures over the past century have been greatest in the Great Valley ecoregion; decreases in maximum temperatures are also greatest in this ecoregion (Rapacciuolo et al. 2014).

By the end of the century (2070–2099), annual mean temperatures within the Northern California study area are projected to rise by 2.2–6.1°C (4.0–11.0°F) compared to

Data Sources: Basin Characterization Model (Flint & Flint 2014); Conservation Biology Institute. Map produced by EcoAdapt, Sept. 2021

Figure 2. Annual mean temperature in degrees Celsius (°C) for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area between 1951 and 1980.

historical temperatures (1951–1980; Figure 2 and Figure 3), with slightly greater warming projected in summer maximum temperatures (2.0–6.8°C [3.6–12.2°F]) compared to winter minimums (1.9–5.8°C [3.4–10.4°F]; Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014; Table 2). Because oceans warm more slowly than land, interior zones are generally projected to experience greater temperature increases than coastal areas ventilated by ocean breezes (Pierce et al. 2018). Other factors associated with landscape-scale temperature variability include elevation and urbanization (LaDochy et al. 2007).

Figure 3. Change in annual mean temperature (°C) in the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area, representing the difference between historical average (1951–1980) and projected values for mid-century (2040–2069) and late-century (2070–2099) time frames under two different climate scenarios: CNRM-RCP8.5 (warm/wet future scenario) and MIROC-RCP8.5 (hot/dry future scenario).

Table 2. Projected change in average annual, winter minimum, and summer maximum temperature increases for 2070–2099compared to 1951–1980 in ecoregions that overlap the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area (Flint et al.2013; Flint & Flint 2014).

Ecoregion		Annual	Winter Minimum	Summer Maximum
	Historical	13.1°C (55.5°F)	3.4°C (38.2°F)	25.6°C (78.2°F)
North Coast	Projected	+2.2–5.2°C (+3.9–9.4°F)	+1.9–4.5°C (+3.5–8.1°F)	+2.3–6.1°C (+4.1–11.0°F)
Northorn Coost	Historical	12.8°C (55.1°F)	1.1°C (34.0°F)	29.1°C (84.4°F)
Range	Projected	+2.2–5.2°C (+4.0–9.4°F)	+2.1–4.2°C (+3.7–8.3°F)	+2.2–5.9°C (+4.0–10.7°F)
Northern Interior Coast Range	Historical	16.0°C (60.7°F)	2.7°C (36.8°F)	33.6°C (92.6°F)
	Projected	+2.2–5.4°C (+4.0–9.8°F)	+2.2–4.7°C (+3.9–8.5°F)	+2.3–6.3°C (+4.2–11.4°F)
Klamath Mountains	Historical	10.7°C (51.3°F)	-1.0°C (30.1°F)	27.6°C (81.6°F)
	Projected	+2.2–5.2°C (+4.2–9.4°F)	+2.0–4.8°C (+3.6–8.6°F)	+2.8–6.1°C (+5.1–11.1°F)
Southern Cascades	Historical	8.3°C (46.9°F)	-4.7°C (23.5°F)	26.1°C (79.0°F)
	Projected	+2.3–5.5°C (+4.1–9.9°F)	+2.0–5.8°C (+3.5–10.5°F)	+3.1–6.7°C (+5.6–12.1°F)
Great Valley	Historical	16.6°C (62.0°F)	3.2°C (37.7°F)	34.3°C (93.7°F)
	Projected	+2.5–6.1°C (+4.4–10.9°F)	+2.5–4.9°C (+4.4–8.7°F)	+2.0–6.8°C (3.6–12.3°F)

High confidence in direction of projected trends, moderate confidence in magnitude.

Water Temperature

August stream temperatures in northwestern California (not including the Great Valley ecoregion) increased by roughly 0.1°C (0.2°F) per decade from 1976 to 2015, which corresponded to a 0.4°C (0.7°F) increase in air temperature and 5.3% decrease in stream discharge per decade (Isaak et al. 2017). However, an older study of the Klamath River Basin suggests annual stream temperature increases in the basin could have been as high as 0.5°C [0.9°F] per decade between 1962 and 2001 (Bartholow 2005).

By the 2080s, August stream temperatures in northwestern California are projected to increase $0.4-0.8^{\circ}C$ ($0.8-1.4^{\circ}F$), corresponding to modeled increases in air temperature of $3.6^{\circ}C$ ($6.4^{\circ}F$) and a 1.2% decrease in stream discharge (Isaak et al. 2017). These changes reflect a relatively linear trend of a $0.3^{\circ}C$ ($0.5^{\circ}F$) increase in August stream temperature per $1^{\circ}C$ ($1.8^{\circ}F$) increase in air temperature, though coldwater streams at high elevations warm at a slower rate compared to those at lower elevations (Isaak et al. 2017). For the Sacramento River, annual water temperatures are projected to increase by $13^{\circ}C$ ($1.8-5.4^{\circ}F$) by 2100 (Cloern et al. 2011).

High confidence in direction of projected trends, moderate confidence in magnitude.

Precipitation

Mean annual precipitation increased by 263– 942 mm (1.0–3.7 in) in northern California between 1900–1939 and 1970–2009 time periods, with the greatest increases occurring in the Cascade Ranges and the least change in the Great Valley (Rapacciuolo et al. 2014). Significant decreases in September precipitation have also been observed across the northern California region between 1953 and 2012 (Asarian & Walker 2016).

Precipitation in California is highly variable on seasonal, annual, decadal, and multidecadal scales, which contributes to a wide range of projections that disagree on both the direction and magnitude of change. By the end of the century (2070-2099), mean annual precipitation within the Northern California study area is projected to change by -23% to +38% compared to historical precipitation (1951–1980; Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014; Figure 4 and Figure 5; Table 3). Regardless of whether annual precipitation increases or decreases, it is highly likely that a larger proportion of annual rainfall will occur during a shorter and more intense wet season, with later onset of fall rains and earlier onset of the dry season

310 mm

4,460 mm

Data Sources: Basin Characterization Model (Flint & Flint 2014); Conservation Biology Institute. Map produced by EcoAdapt, Sept. 2021

Figure 4. Annual mean precipitation in millimeters (mm) for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area between 1951 and 1980.

(Pierce et al. 2018; Swain et al. 2018). Precipitation totals are also expected to become even more variable from year to year (Neelin et al. 2013; Pierce et al. 2018; Swain et al. 2018), and the frequency of both extremely wet years and very dry years are expected to increase, resulting in dramatic swings between periods of drought and flooding (Swain et al. 2018).

7

Figure 5. Change in annual mean precipitation (mm) in the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area, representing the difference between historical average (1951–1980) and projected values for mid-century (2040–2069) and late-century (2070–2099) time frames under two different climate scenarios: CNRM-RCP8.5 (warm/wet future scenario) and MIROC-RCP8.5 (hot/dry future scenario).

Table 3. Projected percent change in annual and seasonal precipitation for 2070–2099 compared to 1951–1980 in ecoregions that overlap the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area (Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014).

Ecoregion		Annual	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall
North Coast	Historical	1,474.0 mm (58.0 in)	264.3 mm (10.4 in)	106.4 mm (4.1 in)	9.1 mm (0.3 in)	112.2 mm (4.4 in)
	Projected	-19.8% to +27.2%	-22.8% to +50.7%	-12.2% to +19.1%	-72.2% to +54.3%	-26.2% to +9.3%
Northern Coast Range	Historical	1,385.9 mm (54.5 in)	256.5 mm (10.1 in)	96.6 mm (3.8 in)	8.3 mm (0.3 in)	101.5 mm (4.0 in)
	Projected	-20.3% to +27.9%	-23.5% to +49.9%	-12.7% to +20.8%	-92.4% to +49.3%	-25.0% to +10.8%
Northern Interior Coast Range	Historical	651.8 mm (25.6 in)	120.8 mm (4.7 in)	45.7 mm (1.8 in)	6.5 mm (0.2 in)	45.4 mm (1.7 in)
	Projected	-17.0% to +34.3%	-19.4% to +55.6%	-8.5% to +37.9%	-57.1% to +38.1%	-23.2% to +16.4%
Klamath Mountains	Historical	1,713.7 mm (67.4)	290.9 mm (11.4 in)	122.5 mm (4.8 in)	18.6 mm (0.7 in)	139.9 mm (5.5 in)
	Projected	-16.2% to +18.3%	-18.9% to +35.1%	-11.5% to +23.0%	-22.0% to +41.4%	-24.7% to +7.7%
Southern Cascades	Historical	910.5 mm (35.8 in)	147.2 mm (5.8 in)	70.9 mm (2.7 in)	17.0 mm (0.6 in)	68.7 mm (2.7 in)
	Projected	-18.9% to +26.8%	-20.9% to +43.0%	-12.8% to +28.1%	-9.9% to +49.3%	-26.5% to +16.6%
Great Valley	Historical	318.5 mm (12.5 in)	57.0 mm (2.2 in)	26.3 mm (1.0 in)	1.7 mm (0.07 in)	21.2 mm (0.8 in)
	Projected	-23.4% to +37.5%	-27.3% to +66.3%	-15.9% to +29.2%	-20.8% to +70.4%	-22.7% to +17.2%

Low confidence in direction and magnitude of projected trends.

9

Climatic Water Deficit & Soil Moisture

Soil moisture is closely tied to climatic water deficit (CWD), a metric that reflects moisture stress by taking into account the effects of precipitation and local atmospheric conditions (e.g., temperature, humidity) on the ecosystem water balance (Stephenson 1998; Flint et al. 2013). Increases in CWD represent a net loss of water from the ecosystem through reduced water inputs (e.g., less precipitation) and/or increased water loss (e.g., more evapotranspiration, often as a result of warmer temperatures). The balance between water supply and demand in California shifts over the course of the year, with CWD increasing as soil moisture from the winter rains is depleted by late spring and evapotranspiration increases in warmer months. Differences in the drivers of water balance on a particular site (e.g., topographic features that alter evaporative demand, soil properties that affect water-holding capacity) can mediate CWD on a site-level scale (Stephenson 1998; Flint et al. 2013).

Historically, annual CWD within the northern California study area ranged between 0 and 985 mm (average for 1951–1980), with the driest areas occurring in the Great Valley ecoregion (Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014; Figure 6). Interannual variability in CWD also varies widely across the region, ranging from very stable conditions up to average swings of 185 mm in the most variable sites in the Klamath Mountains and parts of the Great Valley. Average annual CWD decreased by 112 mm (0.44 in) in the Cascade Ranges between 1900–1939 and 1970–2009 time periods, but increased by 35–43 mm (0.1–0.17 in) in other parts of the study area (Rapacciuolo et al. 2014).

Data Sources: Basin Characterization Model (Flint & Flint 2014); Conservation Biology Institute Map produced by EcoAdapt, Sept.2021

Figure 6. Mean climatic water deficit (CWD) and interannual variability (calculated using the standard deviation of mean annual CWD) in millimeters (mm) for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area between 1951 and 1980.

Overview of Climate Trends and Projections for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project Copyright EcoAdapt 2021

By the end of the century (2070–2099), average annual CWD within ecoregions overlapping the study area is projected to increase by 4.3% to 43.2% compared to historical conditions (1951–1980; Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014; Table 4). The greatest changes are expected to occur in the Southern Cascades ecoregion, where CWD under a hot/dry future scenario may increase by up to 337 mm (13.3 in) on some individual sites (Figure 7). Because increases in evapotranspiration occur as temperatures rise, increased climatic water deficit and decreased soil moisture are expected regardless of the direction of change in precipitation (Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014; Micheli et al. 2018; Pierce et al. 2018).

Table 4. Projected percent change in average annual climatic water deficit (CWD) for 2070–2099 compared to 1951–1980 in ecoregions that overlap the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area (Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014).

Ecoregion	Historical	Projected
North Coast	551.4 mm (21.7 in)	+9% to +28.5%
Northern Coast Range	638.3 mm (25.1 in)	+6.9% to +24.2%
Northern Interior Coast Range	846.9 mm (33.3 in)	+5.2% to +16.1%
Klamath Mountains	486.1 mm (19.1 in)	+10.5% to +31.7%
Southern Cascades	503.4 mm (19.8 in)	+16.3% to +43.2%
Great Valley	1,068.6 mm (42.1 in)	+4.3% to +18.6%

Figure 7. Change in annual CWD (mm) in the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area, representing the difference between historical average (1951–1980) and projected values for mid-century (2040–2069) and late-century (2070–2099) time frames under two different climate scenarios: CNRM-RCP8.5 (warm/wet future scenario) and MIROC-RCP8.5 (hot/dry future scenario).

Historical variability in CWD (Figure 2) may be considered together with projected changes in CWD (Figure 3) to better understand areas of the landscape that may be more vulnerable to significant ecosystem changes. Figure 8 contrasts portions of the study area where CWD is projected to increase by the greatest or least amounts by the end of the century (2070–2099 compared to 1951–1980) with areas of greatest and least historical variability in CWD (1951–1980). The areas where these intersect (i.e., historical variability x projected change in CWD; Figure 9) suggest sites where change in CWD is more likely to remain or exceed the historical range of variability, impacting vegetation adapted to either more stable or more variable conditions. For example, areas that have historically had low CWD variability and are expected to undergo significant increases may be more likely to experience type conversion or ecosystem collapse under future conditions, while areas of historically high variability may already support species that are well-suited for periods of extremely dry conditions (Figure 10).

Data Sources: Basin Characterization Model (Flint & Flint 2014); Conservation Biology Institute

Map produced by EcoAdapt, Sept.2021

Figure 8. Areas of least and greatest historical CWD variability (average of 1951–1980) and percent projected change in annual CWD (average conditions in 2070–2099 compared to 1951–1980) for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area. Projected future change is calculated using the mean of two climate models (MIROC ESM and CNRM-CM5) under a high-emissions scenario (RCP 8.5). For both historical CWD variability and projected change in CWD, greatest change represents the 80th percentile and least change represents the 20th percentile.

Data Sources: Basin Characterization Model (Flint & Flint 2014); Conservation Biology Institute Map produced by EcoAdapt, Sept.2021

Figure 9. Areas where the least (20th percentile) and most (80th percentile) historical CWD variability (average of 1951–1980) intersect with areas of least and most projected future change in CWD (average conditions in 2070–2099 compared to 1951–1980) for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area. Projected future change is calculated using the mean of two climate models (MIROC ESM and CNRM-CM5) under a high-emissions scenario (RCP 8.5).

Figure 10. Framework for consideration of intersection between historical CWD variability and projected change in CWD. Figure adapted from Gillogly et al. 2017.

High confidence in trend direction, moderate confidence in trend magnitude.

Snowpack

Between 1900–1939 and 1970–2009 time periods, April 1 snow water equivalent (SWE) decreased by 15–39% across the region, with smaller changes occurring in the Cascade Ranges compared to the Klamath Mountains and coastal areas (Rapacciuolo et al. 2014). Geographic extent of snow on April 1 also declined by 10% in northwestern California between two more recent timeframes (1951– 1980 compared to 1981–2010), with the greatest losses occurring in the Klamath Mountains (Micheli et al. 2018).

Because snowpack declines are primarily driven by warmer temperatures (Hamlet et al. 2005; Mote 2006), snowpack is projected to decrease in California across all climate models, including those that project increases in precipitation (Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014; Micheli et al. 2018). April 1 geographic extent of snow in northwestern California is expected to decline from 60% of the landscape to 30% by 2050 and 11% by 2100, with the greatest losses occurring under warm, dry future scenarios (Micheli et al. 2018). April 1 SWE is also expected to decrease significantly, with losses of 61–100% by 2100 compared to historical SWE (1951–

0 mm

4,970 mm

Data Sources: Basin Characterization Model (Flint & Flint 2014); Conservation Biology Institute. Map produced by EcoAdapt, Sept. 2021

Figure 11. April 1 snow water equivalent (SWE) in millimeters (mm) for the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area between 1951 and 1980.

1980; Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014; Figure 11 and Figure 12; Table 5). While snowpack is likely to disappear completely in the Northern Interior Coast Range where the historical average is already very low (0.14 mm [0.01 in]), the largest absolute changes are likely to occur in the Klamath Mountains ecoregion, where declines of up to 94.4% may result in April 1 SWE losses of up to 169.8 mm (6.7 in).

17

Figure 12. Change in April 1 snow water equivalent (SWE; in mm) in the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area, representing the difference between historical average (1951–1980) and projected values for mid-century (2040–2069) and late-century (2070–2099) time frames under two different climate scenarios: CNRM-RCP8.5 (warm/wet future scenario) and MIROC-RCP8.5 (hot/dry future scenario).

Table 5. Projected percent change in average April 1 snow water equivalent (SWE) for 2070–2099 compared to 1951–1980 in ecoregions that overlap the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area (Flint et al. 2013; Flint & Flint 2014).

Ecoregion	Historical	Projected
North Coast	3.1 mm (0.1 in)	-86.1% to -99.2%
Northern Coast Range	58.5 mm (2.3 in)	-82.4% to -98.8%
Northern Interior Coast Range	0.14 mm (0.01 in)	-100.0%
Klamath Mountains	235.9 mm (9.3 in)	-72.0% to -94.4%
Southern Cascades	268.6 mm (10.6 in)	-60.8% to -88.7%
Great Valley	3.1 mm (0.1 in)	-86.1% to -99.2%

High confidence in trend direction, moderate confidence in magnitude of change.

Timing of Snowmelt and Runoff

The timing of snowmelt and spring runoff shifted 10–30 days earlier across the western U.S. between 1948 and 2002 (Stewart et al. 2005), and up to 40 days earlier since 1915 (Hamlet et al. 2005). Continued shifts towards earlier timing of snowmelt-driven runoff are expected, with estimates for northern California ranging from 5 to 15 days by 2100 compared to 1948–2000 (Stewart et al. 2005). This represents a smaller change than the western U.S. as a whole, which is projected to see an overall shift of up to 40–60-days earlier (Stewart et al. 2005; Rauscher et al. 2008).

High confidence in trend direction, moderate confidence in magnitude of change.

Streamflow

In rain-dominated coastal rivers of northwestern California, minimum annual flows have decreased and late summer recession rates have increased over the past 40-80 years (Sawaske & Freyberg 2014; Asarian & Walker 2016; Klein et al. 2017). In northwestern California and southwestern Oregon, summer stream flows declined between 1953 and 2012, with the largest decreases occurring in the Upper Klamath Basin (Asarian & Walker 2016). The most consistent declining trends were observed between August and November, and 73% of sites showed declines in September flows. However, changes in precipitation alone do not account for the observed trends, which are likely also driven by water withdrawals and loss of riparian vegetation in the region (Asarian & Walker 2016).

Flow patterns in the western U.S. already exhibit high interannual and spatial variability in streamflow patterns, and flow variability is expected to increase further over the coming century (Stewart et al. 2005). The timing of spring peak flows may also shift earlier by up to 30 days as a result of temperature-driven changes in the timing of snowmelt-driven runoff (Stewart et al. 2005). Overall, wet season flows are projected to increase and dry season flows are projected to decrease (Leng et al. 2016; Naz et al. 2016; Burke & Ficklin 2017; Grantham et al. 2018), with the most significant changes expected in January (25% increase by 2050) and May flows (24% decrease by 2050; Grantham et al. 2018). As a result of more extreme dry

conditions, the lowest streamflow per decade is projected to decrease an additional 30–40% by 2100 (compared to 1950–2005; Pierce et al. 2018).

Moderate confidence in trend direction and magnitude of change.

Coastal Fog

Relatively little is known about long-term trends in coastal fog, and potential changes in global circulation patterns (e.g., the jet stream), the timing and strength of upwellings, winds, and other interacting oceanic and atmospheric factors that influence coastal fog are largely unknown (Grantham 2018). A study conducted at two locations on the northern and central California coast found a 33% reduction in the frequency of coastal fog and low clouds under 400 m (1,312 ft) since 1901, though no significant changes occurred after 1951 (Johnstone & Dawson 2010). A modeling study of California coastal fog frequency found similar trends over the same time frames, though the magnitude of declines was less extreme (3–4% decline in frequency from 1920–1950, then 0.5–1% decline from 1950–2008; O'Brien 2011). Modeled future projections suggest weak declines may continue through the end of the century (0.1% per decade), driven primarily by warming sea surface temperatures (O'Brien 2011).

Low confidence in trend direction and magnitude of change.

Sea Level Rise

Globally, sea level rise has been accelerating from a background rate of 1 mm (0.004 in) per year over the last two millennia (National Research Council 2012) to 1.7 mm (0.07 in) per year between 1901 and 2010 (Church & White 2006; Anderson 2018). Relative sea level rise on the U.S. West Coast is 18% higher than the global average, at 2.0 mm (0.08 in) per year between 1901 and 2010, and is 34% higher than global rates within the Cascadia Subduction Zone (includes the Pacific Northwest and northern California), at 2.3 mm (0.09 in) over the same time period (Burgette et al. 2009; Anderson 2018). This difference is due to vertical land motion (VLM), including tectonic land-level changes, sediment compaction, and/or land subsidence, which alters the rate of local sea-level changes relative to background global rates (Burgette et al. 2009; Patton et al. 2017; Anderson 2018). Within the study area, rates of relative sea level rise over the past century range from slight decreases of -0.8 mm (-0.03 in) per year from 1933–2018 recorded at the Crescent City tide gage (due to land uplift; rates equivalent to -0.08 mm [-0.26 ft] in 100 years) to 4.9 mm per year (0.18 in) at the Humboldt Bay (North Spit) tide gage from 1977–2018 (due to land subsidence; rates equivalent to 0.49 m [1.6 ft] in 100 years; Patton et al. 2017; Anderson 2018).

By 2100, it is likely (66% probability) that sea level rise within the study area will occur within a range of 0.03–1.24 m (0.1–4.1 ft) compared to 2000 sea levels, with lower rates likely towards the northern part of the region and higher rates in and around Humboldt Bay (Kopp et al. 2014; Griggs et al. 2017; Sweet et al. 2017; Anderson 2018). Under the most extreme sea level rise scenarios (representing collapse of the Antarctic ice sheet), global sea levels may rise by up to 2.5 m (8.2 ft), and sea levels in northern California may increase by up to 2.8–3.4 m (9.1–11.0

ft). However, it is difficult to model the complex and non-linear impacts of warming temperatures on ice sheets, so the probability of the most extreme scenario occurring is unknown (Kopp et al. 2014; Griggs et al. 2017; Sweet et al. 2017; Anderson 2018).

Table 6. Probabilistic projections of relative sea level rise (SLR) for three tide gages within the Northern California Climate Adaptation Project study area, representing likely (67% probability) and very likely (95% probability) ranges for 2100 (compared to 2000) across three future emissions scenarios (RCP 2.6, RCP 4.5, RCP 8.5). Probability of the extreme scenario, representing collapse of the Antarctic ice sheet, is unknown (Kopp et al. 2014; Griggs et al. 2017; Sweet et al. 2017; Anderson 2018).

	Likely Range	1-in-200 Chance	Extreme Scenario
Location	66% probability SLR occurs within range	0.5% probability SLR meets or exceeds	Probability uncertain (ice sheet collapse)
Crescent City	0.03–0.65 m (0.1–2.1 ft)	1.55 m (5.1 ft)	2.79 m (9.1 ft)
Humboldt Bay (North Spit)	0.62–1.24 m (2.0–4.1 ft)	2.15 m (7.0 ft)	3.37 m (11.0 ft)
Arena Cove	0.21–0.94 m (0.7 to 3.1 ft)	2.04 m (6.7 ft)	3.02 m (9.9 ft)

High confidence in trend direction, moderate confidence in magnitude of change.

Trends and Projections for Extreme Events and Natural Disturbance Regimes

Heat Waves

Frequency, intensity, and duration of heat waves have increased over the past few decades, and these changes are projected to continue over the coming century, with the greatest increases likely to occur in humid nighttime heat waves and in coastal areas (Gershunov & Guirguis 2012). State-wide, the maximum temperature on the hottest day of the year is likely to increase by an average of 2–6°C (3.6–10.8°F) by the end of the century, with the greatest increases occurring under high-emissions scenarios (Pierce et al. 2018). For inland regions, the hottest day of the year is expected to exceed 41°C (105°F; Pierce et al. 2018).

High confidence in trend direction and magnitude of change.

Extreme Precipitation, Storms, and Flooding

Both the frequency and intensity of extreme precipitation events declined in northern California from 1950 to 2009 (Mass et al. 2010). However, the intensity and duration of storm events (including atmospheric rivers) are projected to increase over the coming century, resulting in greater maximum precipitation rates and volume (Dettinger 2011; Shields & Kiehl 2016; Prein et al. 2017; Pierce et al. 2018). By 2100, available projections suggest that there may be a 30% increase in the number of days per year with atmospheric river events (Dettinger 2011), and daily rainfall totals during extreme precipitation events may increase by 15–20% under a high-emissions scenario (RCP 8.5; Pierce et al. 2018). However, confidence in projections related to changes in future storms remains low due to complex interactions between large-scale atmospheric patterns (e.g., ENSO, atmospheric rivers), sea level rise, and precipitation, which are all uncertain for northern California.

The projected increases in extreme precipitation events are also expected to cause more frequent and more severe winter flooding (Dettinger 2011; Naz et al. 2016; Burke & Ficklin 2017; AghaKouchak et al. 2018; Swain et al. 2018; Grantham et al. 2018). One study projects that, in California, floods with a current likelihood of occurring once every 200 years will become 50-year floods by the end of the century (Swain et al. 2018). In the Sacramento River Basin, 50-year flood volume is expected to increase by 13% and 50-year floods are projected to become 1.6 times more likely (e.g., a 50-year-flood becomes a 31-year-flood) by 2050 (Pagán et al. 2016).

Moderate confidence in trend direction, low confidence in magnitude of change.

Drought

Drought years occurred twice as often in the most recent two decades as in the previous century (30% of years from 1995–2014 compared to 14% of years from 1896–1994), and are most likely to occur when low-precipitation years and high-temperature years coincide

(Diffenbaugh et al. 2015). The probability of these two anomalies co-occurring doubled within that time period (91% chance of low-precipitation/high-temperature year from 1995–2014 compared to 42% chance from 1896–1994), despite little change in the probability of low-precipitation years. Thus, the observed increase in drought was due largely to an increase in the frequency of high-temperature years (80% over the past two decades compared to 45% in the previous century; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015). Increases have also occurred in extreme drought conditions in California; for instance, the 2012–2016 drought had the lowest precipitation, highest temperatures, and most extreme drought indicators on record (Griffin & Anchukaitis 2014; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015). Paleoclimate reconstructions suggest this was the most severe drought in the last 1,200 years (Griffin & Anchukaitis 2014), with the exceptional severity largely attributed to record high temperatures combined with low levels of precipitation (Griffin & Anchukaitis 2014; Williams et al. 2015).

Over the coming century, warmer temperatures are expected to drive significant increases in drought risk even if precipitation increases (Cook et al. 2015; Diffenbaugh et al. 2015; Pierce et al. 2018). Drought years are projected to be twice as likely to occur in any given year, and under a high-emissions scenario there is a greater than 80% chance of a multi-decadal drought by 2100 (Cook et al. 2015). Severe droughts are also projected to become much more frequent, with those that now occur once every 20 years projected to happen once every 10 years by the end of the century, and once-in-a-century droughts projected to occur once every 20 years by 2100 (Pierce et al. 2018).

High confidence in trend direction and magnitude of change.

Wildfire

Although fire frequency and extent of burning in most areas of California remain well below the levels of activity that occurred prior to Euro-American settlement (Stephens et al. 2007; Safford & Van de Water 2014), more recent trends have shown increases in fire size, frequency, and annual area burned over the last several decades (Miller et al. 2012; Westerling 2016). Both fire size and total area burned increased on U.S. Forest Service lands in northwestern California between 1910 and 2008, with the highest values occurring after 2000 (Miller et al. 2012). Between 1970 and 2012, large fires (>400 ha in size) on public lands in the inland northern California and Sierra Nevada regions have increased in frequency by 184–274% per decade, and total area burned by large fires has increased by 270–492% per decade, with significantly more fire in forested areas occurring in years with early snowmelt (Westerling 2016). The length of the fire season increased by 215% in this region, and the burn time of large fires has increased by 612% (Westerling 2016). No significant trends in the proportion of high-severity fire have been observed between 1984 and 2014 (Miller et al. 2012; Parks et al. 2015; Law & Waring 2015; Keyser & Westerling 2017). However, the relatively short period of record for data on fire severity may obscure longer-term trends, and there are not yet peer-reviewed studies on temporal trends in fire severity that include data from the last several years.

State-wide, mean annual area burned is expected to increase by up to 77%, with a 50% increase in the frequency of extremely large fires (>10,000 ha) by 2100 (Westerling 2018). Within the

montane forested areas of northern California, burned areas may increase by up to 400% (Westerling et al. 2011; Westerling 2018). The fire season is also expected to continue getting longer due to warmer temperatures and earlier snowmelt, with the most significant changes occurring at mid- to high elevations (Westerling 2016; Micheli et al. 2018). Fire frequency is projected to increase the most in the North Coast region due to growing human populations that increase the risk of ignitions (Mann et al. 2016; Micheli et al. 2018). Longer fire seasons and more available fuels in the region may also increase the chances of lightning strikes that ignite wildfires (Lutz et al. 2009; Grantham et al. 2018). Although models based solely on historical fire-climate relationships project little change in fire severity for northwestern California by 2050 (Parks et al. 2016), human activity and fuel buildup from decades of fire suppression have altered these historical fire-climate relationships (Taylor et al. 2016; Syphard et al. 2017; Wahl et al. 2019) and projections that incorporate these factors suggest significant increases in fire severity and size in the region (Mann et al. 2016; Wahl et al. 2019). Overall, the majority of impacts to natural and human ecosystems over the coming century are likely to be caused by extreme fire events, which are expected to increase significantly (Westerling 2018) and are already being observed across the region (Goss et al. 2020).

Literature Cited

- AghaKouchak A, Ragno E, Love C, Moftakhari H. 2018. Projected changes in California's precipitation intensityfrequency curves. California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment. Publication Number: CCCA4-CEC-2018-005. California Energy Commission, Sacramento, CA.
- Anderson JK. 2018. Sea level rise in the Humboldt Bay region. Update 1: March 2018. Prepared for the California State Coastal Conservancy and Coastal Ecosystems Institute of Northern California. Northern Hydrology & Engineering, McKinleyville, CA.
- Asarian JE, Walker JD. 2016. Long-term trends in streamflow and precipitation in northwest California and southwest Oregon, 1953-2012. Journal of the American Water Resources Association **52**:241–261.
- Bartholow JM. 2005. Recent water temperature trends in the lower Klamath River, California. North American Journal of Fisheries Management **25**:152–162.
- Burgette RJ, Weldon RJ, Schmidt DA. 2009. Interseismic uplift rates for western Oregon and along-strike variation in locking on the Cascadia subduction zone. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth **114**.
- Burke WD, Ficklin DL. 2017. Future projections of streamflow magnitude and timing differ across coastal watersheds of the western United States. International Journal of Climatology **37**:4493–4508.
- Church JA, White NJ. 2006. A 20th century acceleration in global sea-level rise. Geophysical Research Letters **33**.
- Cloern JE et al. 2011. Projected evolution of California's San Francisco Bay-Delta-River System in a century of climate change. PLoS ONE 6:e24465.
- Cook BI, Ault TR, Smerdon JE. 2015. Unprecedented 21st century drought risk in the American Southwest and Central Plains. Science Advances **1**:e1400082.
- Cordero EC, Kessomkiat W, Abatzoglou J, Mauget SA. 2011. The identification of distinct patterns in California temperature trends. Climatic Change **108**:357–382.
- Dettinger M. 2011. Climate change, atmospheric rivers, and floods in California a multimodel analysis of storm frequency and magnitude changes. Journal of the American Water Resources Association **47**:514–523.
- Diffenbaugh NS, Swain DL, Touma D. 2015. Anthropogenic warming has increased drought risk in California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **112**:3931–3936.
- Flint LE, Flint AL. 2014. California Basin Characterization Model: a dataset of historical and future hydrologic response to climate change (Ver. 1.1, May 2017). U.S. Geological Survey Data Release. Available from https://doi.org/10.5066/F76T0JPB.
- Flint LE, Flint AL, Thorne JH, Boynton R. 2013. Fine-scale hydrologic modeling for regional landscape applications: the California Basin Characterization Model development and performance. Ecological Processes 2:25.
- Gershunov A, Guirguis K. 2012. California heat waves in the present and future. Geophysical Research Letters **39**:L18710.
- Gillogly M, Dodge C, Halbur M, Micheli L, McKay C, Heller N, Benson B. 2017. Adaptive Management Plan for Pepperwood Preserve. A technical report prepared by the Dwight Center for Conservation Science at Pepperwood, Santa Rosa, CA, for the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation.
- Goss M, Swain DL, Abatzoglou JT, Sarhadi A, Kolden CA, Williams AP, Diffenbaugh NS. 2020. Climate change is increasing the likelihood of extreme autumn wildfire conditions across California. Environmental Research Letters **15**:094016. IOP Publishing.
- Grantham T. 2018. North Coast summary report. California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment. Publication number: SUM-CCC4A-2018-001. California Energy Commission, Sacramento, CA.
- Grantham TEW, Carlisle DM, McCabe GJ, Howard JK. 2018. Sensitivity of streamflow to climate change in California. Climatic Change **149**:427–441.
- Griffin D, Anchukaitis KJ. 2014. How unusual is the 2012–2014 California drought? Geophysical Research Letters **41**:9017–9023.
- Griggs G, Árvai J, Cayan D, DeConto R, Fox J, Fricker HA, Kopp RE, Tebaldi C, Whiteman EA. 2017. Rising seas in California: an update on sea-level rise science. California Ocean Science Trust, Oakland, CA.
- Hamlet AF, Mote PW, Clark MP, Lettenmaier DP. 2005. Effects of temperature and precipitation variability on snowpack trends in the western United States. Journal of Climate **18**:4545–4561.

- Isaak DJ et al. 2017. The NorWeST summer stream temperature model and scenarios for the western U.S.: a crowd-sourced database and new geospatial tools foster a user community and predict broad climate warming of rivers and streams. Water Resources Research **53**:9181–9205.
- Johnstone JA, Dawson TE. 2010. Climatic context and ecological implications of summer fog decline in the coast redwood region. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **107**:4533–4538.
- Keyser A, Westerling AL. 2017. Climate drives inter-annual variability in probability of high severity fire occurrence in the western United States. Environmental Research Letters **12**:065003.
- Klein RD, McKee T, Nystrom K. 2017. Shrinking streamflows in the Redwood Region. Pages 187–197 in R. B. Standiford and Y. S. Valachovic, editors. Coast Redwood Science Symposium—2016: past successes and future direction. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-258. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA.
- Kopp RE, Horton RM, Little CM, Mitrovica JX, Oppenheimer M, Rasmussen DJ, Strauss BH, Tebaldi C. 2014. Probabilistic 21st and 22nd century sea-level projections at a global network of tide-gauge sites. Earth's Future **2**:2014EF000239.
- LaDochy S, Medina R, Patzert W. 2007. Recent California climate variability: spatial and temporal patterns in temperature trends. Climate Research **33**:159–169.
- Law BE, Waring RH. 2015. Carbon implications of current and future effects of drought, fire and management on Pacific Northwest forests. Forest Ecology and Management **355**:4–14.
- Leng G, Huang M, Voisin N, Zhang X, Asrar GR, Leung LR. 2016. Emergence of new hydrologic regimes of surface water resources in the conterminous United States under future warming. Environmental Research Letters **11**:114003.
- Lutz JA, Wagtendonk JW van, Thode AE, Miller JD, Franklin JF. 2009. Climate, lightning ignitions, and fire severity in Yosemite National Park, California, USA. International Journal of Wildland Fire **18**:765–774.
- Mann ML, Batllori E, Moritz MA, Waller EK, Berck P, Flint AL, Flint LE, Dolfi E. 2016. Incorporating anthropogenic influences into fire probability models: effects of human activity and climate change on fire activity in California. PLoS ONE **11**:e0153589.
- Mass C, Skalenakis A, Warner M. 2010. Extreme precipitation over the west coast of North America: is there a trend? Journal of Hydrometeorology **12**:310–318.
- Micheli E, Dodge C, Flint L, Comendant T. 2018. Climate and natural resource analyses and planning for the North Coast Resource Partnership: a technical memorandum summarizing data products. A final report prepared by the Dwight Center for Conservation Science at Pepperwood, Santa Rosa, CA, for West Coast Watershed and the North Coast Resource Partnership.
- Miller JD, Skinner CN, Safford HD, Knapp EE, Ramirez CM. 2012. Trends and causes of severity, size, and number of fires in northwestern California, USA. Ecological Applications **22**:184–203.
- Mote PW. 2006. Climate-driven variability and trends in mountain snowpack in western North America. Journal of Climate **19**:6209–6220.
- National Research Council. 2012. Sea-level rise for the coasts of California, Oregon and Washington: past, present and future. The National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC. Available from http://www.nap.edu/catalog/13389/sea-level-rise-for-the-coasts-of-california-oregon-and-washington (accessed July 12, 2016).
- Naz BS, Kao S-C, Ashfaq M, Rastogi D, Mei R, Bowling LC. 2016. Regional hydrologic response to climate change in the conterminous United States using high-resolution hydroclimate simulations. Global and Planetary Change **143**:100–117.
- Neelin JD, Langenbrunner B, Meyerson JE, Hall A, Berg N. 2013. California winter precipitation change under global warming in the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 ensemble. Journal of Climate **26**:6238– 6256.
- O'Brien TA. 2011. The recent past and possible future decline of California coastal fog. Ph.D dissertation. University of California, Santa Cruz, CA.
- Pagán BR, Ashfaq M, Rastogi D, Kendall DR, Kao S-C, Naz BS, Rui Mei, Pal JS. 2016. Extreme hydrological changes in the southwestern US drive reductions in water supply to Southern California by mid century. Environmental Research Letters **11**:094026.
- Parks SA, Holsinger LM, Miller C, Nelson CR. 2015. Wildland fire as a self-regulating mechanism: the role of previous burns and weather in limiting fire progression. Ecological Applications **25**:1478–1492.

- Parks SA, Miller C, Abatzoglou JT, Holsinger LM, Parisien M-A, Dobrowski SZ. 2016. How will climate change affect wildland fire severity in the western US? Environmental Research Letters **11**:035002.
- Patton JR, Williams TB, Anderson JK, Leroy TH. 2017. Tectonic land level changes and their contributions to sealevel rise, Humboldt Bay region, northern California. Final Report. Prepared for U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Coastal Program. Cascadia Geosciences, McKinleyville, CA.
- Pierce DW, Kalansky JF, Cayan DR. 2018. Climate, drought, and sea level rise scenarios for the Fourth California Climate Assessment. California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment. Publication Number: CNRA-CEC-2018-006. California Energy Commission, Sacramento, CA.
- Prein AF, Liu C, Ikeda K, Trier SB, Rasmussen RM, Holland GJ, Clark MP. 2017. Increased rainfall volume from future convective storms in the US. Nature Climate Change **7**:880–884.
- Rapacciuolo G et al. 2014. Beyond a warming fingerprint: individualistic biogeographic responses to heterogeneous climate change in California. Global Change Biology **20**:2841–2855.
- Rauscher SA, Pal JS, Diffenbaugh NS, Benedetti MM. 2008. Future changes in snowmelt-driven runoff timing over the western US. Geophysical Research Letters **35**:L16703.
- Safford HD, Van de Water KM. 2014. Using fire return interval departure (FRID) analysis to map spatial and temporal changes in fire frequency on national forest lands in California. Res. Pap. PSW-RP-266. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Albany, CA.
- Sawaske SR, Freyberg DL. 2014. An analysis of trends in baseflow recession and low-flows in rain-dominated coastal streams of the Pacific coast. Journal of Hydrology **519**:599–610.
- Shields CA, Kiehl JT. 2016. Simulating the Pineapple Express in the half degree Community Climate System Model, CCSM4. Geophysical Research Letters **43**:7767–7773.
- Stephens SL, Martin RE, Clinton NE. 2007. Prehistoric fire area and emissions from California's forests, woodlands, shrublands, and grasslands. Forest Ecology and Management **251**:205–216.
- Stephenson N. 1998. Actual evapotranspiration and deficit: biologically meaningful correlates of vegetation distribution across spatial scales. Journal of Biogeography **25**:855–870.
- Stewart IT, Cayan DR, Dettinger MD. 2005. Changes toward earlier streamflow timing across western North America. Journal of Climate **18**:1136–1155.
- Swain DL, Langenbrunner B, Neelin JD, Hall A. 2018. Increasing precipitation volatility in twenty-first-century California. Nature Climate Change **8**:427.
- Sweet WV, Kopp RE, Weaver CP, Obeysekera J, Horton RM, Thieler ER, Zervas C. 2017. Global and regional sea level rise scenarios for the United States. NOAA Technical Report NOS CO-OPS 083. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Silver Spring, MD.
- Syphard AD, Keeley JE, Pfaff AH, Ferschweiler K. 2017. Human presence diminishes the importance of climate in driving fire activity across the United States. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **114**:13750–13755.
- Taylor AH, Trouet V, Skinner CN, Stephens S. 2016. Socioecological transitions trigger fire regime shifts and modulate fire–climate interactions in the Sierra Nevada, USA, 1600–2015 CE. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **113**:13684–13689.
- Wahl ER, Zorita E, Trouet V, Taylor AH. 2019. Jet stream dynamics, hydroclimate, and fire in California from 1600 CE to present. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **116**:5393–5398.
- Westerling AL. 2016. Increasing western US forest wildfire activity: sensitivity to changes in the timing of spring. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences **371**:20150178.
- Westerling AL. 2018. Wildfire simulations for California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment: projecting changes in extreme wildfire events with a warming climate. California's Fourth Climate Change Assessment. Publication Number: CCCA4-CEC-2018-014. California Energy Commission, Sacramento, CA.
- Westerling AL, Bryant BP, Preisler HK, Holmes TP, Hidalgo HG, Das T, Shrestha SR. 2011. Climate change and growth scenarios for California wildfire. Climatic Change **109**:445–463.
- Williams AP, Seager R, Abatzoglou JT, Cook BI, Smerdon JE, Cook ER. 2015. Contribution of anthropogenic warming to California drought during 2012-2014. Geophysical Research Letters **42**:6819–6828.